
NOTICE OF WORKSHOP MEETING 
Tuesday, December 8, 2020  

6:00 p.m.    
 

Park District of Highland Park 
Board of Park Commissioners 

West Ridge Center 
636 Ridge Rd. 

Highland Park, IL 60035 

WORKSHOP MEETING AGENDA 
 
 

The Governor has issued a disaster declaration related to public health concerns because of COVID-
19, and all or part of the jurisdiction the Park District of Highland Park is covered by the disaster 
area.  The President of the Board of Park Commissioners has determined that an in-person meeting 
conducted under this Act is not practical or prudent because of said disaster.  Likewise, in compliance 
with the capacity limitations caused by the disaster, public attendance at the meeting is not 
feasible.  Therefore, the Board of Park Commissioners have made alternative arrangements in the 
manner described below to allow any interested member of the public access to contemporaneously 
hear all discussion, testimony, and roll call votes. 

 
Members of the public may view a live stream of the Workshop Meeting by clicking the  

Tuesday, December 8 Meeting Video link found at  
https://www.pdhp.org/park-board/meetings/  

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

 
II. ROLL CALL 

 
III. ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA 

 
IV. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS ON AGENDA 

For public comment, members of the public should email Brian Romes, Executive Director, at 
bromes@pdhp.org. Emails should be sent between Friday, December 4 at 5:00 p.m. until 5:45 p.m. 
on Tuesday, December 8 and should have “Public Comment for December 8” in the subject line of the 
email. Comments will be read aloud during the meeting. 
 

V. SUNSET WOODS PARK PLAYGROUND RENOVATION DESIGN & MASTER PLAN 
PROJECT UPDATE  
 

VI. THE PRESERVE OF HIGHLAND PARK PROJECT UPDATE  
 

VII. RESOLUTION 2020-13 TO APPROVE A LEASE AGREEMENT WITH REALGY, LLC  
 

VIII. ROSEWOOD BEACH PROJECT UPDATES 
A. Interpretive Cove Protection Project Updates  
B. Boardwalk Repair Update 

 
IX. ORDINANCE 2020-05 - TAX LEVY 2020  

 
X. REVIEW OF VOUCHERS 

 
XI. COVID-19 EMERGENCY OPERATIONS PLANNING UPDATE   

 

https://www.pdhp.org/park-board/meetings/
mailto:bromes@pdhp.org


NOTICE OF WORKSHOP MEETING 
Tuesday, December 8, 2020  

6:00 p.m.    
 

Park District of Highland Park 
Board of Park Commissioners 

West Ridge Center 
636 Ridge Rd. 

Highland Park, IL 60035 

 
XII. CLOSED SESSION PURSUANT TO THE FOLLOWING SECTIONS OF THE OPEN 

MEETINGS ACT:  Section 2(c)1 – the appointment, employment, compensation, discipline of the District 
including legal counsel for the District; Section 2(c)5 – the purchase or lease of real estate including discussion 
on whether a certain parcel of property should be acquired; Section 2(c)6 – the setting of a price for sale or lease 
of property owned by the District; Section 2(c)8 – security procedures and the use of personnel and equipment 
to respond to an actual, a threatened, or a reasonably potential danger to the safety of employees, students, 
staff, the public, or public property; Section 2(c) 11 – litigation against or on behalf of the District or where the 
District finds that an action is probable or imminent; Section 2(c) 21 – the discussion of minutes lawfully closed 
under the Act, whether for the purposes of approval of said minutes or for conducting the semi-annual review of 
the minutes as set forth in section 2.06 of the Act.; Section 2(c) 29 -  for discussions between internal or external 
auditors and the Board. Possible action by the Board on items discussed in closed session. 

 
XIII. ACTION FROM CLOSED SESSION IF ANY 
 

XIV. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
Persons with disabilities requiring reasonable accommodation to participate in this meeting should contact the Park District’s ADA 
Compliance Officer, Brian Romes, at the Park District’s Administrative Office, 636 Ridge Road, Highland Park, IL Monday through 
Friday from 8:30 a.m. until 5:00 p.m. at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.  Requests for a qualified ASL interpreter require five (5) 
working days advance notice.  Telephone number 847-831-3810; fax number 847-831-0818. 



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To:  Park Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Amalia Schwartz, Planning and Projects Manager; Jeff Smith, Director of Planning and 

Projects; Brian Romes, Executive Director  
 
Date:  December 8, 2020  
 
Subject: Sunset Woods Playground Renovation Design and Park Master Plan Project Update 
 
 
Summary 
 
In July 2020, the Park Board of Commissioners approved a contract with Hitchcock Design Group for design services 
to renovate the Sunset Woods Park 21st Century Playland (aka the Rocket Ship Playground) and Titanic Tides Tot 
Lot.  Additionally, the Board approved an alternate for design services to develop a site master plan for the entire 
park, with the intent to ensure that the playground renovation fits into a modern vision of Sunset Woods Park for 
the entire community to enjoy. 
  
Once approved, the project team began collecting input from the community. In-person and online opportunities 
began in August and ran through mid-October. The input received served as the foundation for the first concept plan 
drafts. 
  
Hitchcock Design Group will provide a project update and present the initial concept draft master plan and 
playground plans. These initial concept plans follow the design guidance supported by communitywide input. At this 
stage of the process, these plans are intended to be conceptual, meaning they are representations of an idea or 
activity intent. The images and sketches on the plans are not final recommendations and will be designed in further 
detail during the later stages of the design process.  
  
In keeping with our community engagement tradition, an essential aspect of the Sunset Woods project planning 
process is collaboration with residents. The community will be invited to provide feedback on the initial draft plans 
on December 9-17 by means of an online project page. In keeping with COVID-19 DCEO guidelines, additional online, 
virtual, and in-person engagement opportunities will be available to the community. 
 



1 
 

 
 
To: Park Board of Commissioners 

 

From: Rebecca Grill, Natural Areas Manager; Dan Voss, Director of Parks; Jeff Smith, Director of 
Planning and Projects; Brian Romes, Executive Director 

 
Date: December 8, 2020 

 
Subject:  The Preserve of Highland Park Project Update 
 

 
Summary 

 
On September 22, 2020, the Park District of Highland Park Board of Commissioners awarded a construction 
contract in the amount of $1,204,290 to Team REIL Inc. of Union IL for Construction of The Preserve of Highland 
Park.  This work is supported by grants from the Illinois Department of Natural Resources OSLAD ($400,000) 
and Illinois EPA Section 319 Grant funding, through the Lake County Stormwater Management Commission 
($144,672) for shoreline restoration and vegetative swales.  Among the amenities planned during construction 
are a pond overlook, restored north pond shoreline, and swales planted with wetland plants, gardens, seating 
areas, play areas, and signage.   New and improved pathways will be installed to lead visitors through green 
lawns, wet meadows, short grass prairie habitat, and restored woodlands. 
 
Staff will provide a project update on construction progress at The Preserve of Highland Park. 
 
Financial Impact 
 
Construction Budget - Capital $1,150,537  

OSLAD Grant Funds $400,000  

IEPA Grant Funds $144,672  

Overall Construction Budget $1,695,209 

  
Board Approved Bid Recommendation (Base and 
Alternates A3-A10) ($1,204,290) 

Estimated Hey Construction Phase Services ($42,000) 

Recycle/Waste Containers ($12,800) 

Signage ($37,700) 

Balance Remaining $398,419 
 



2 
 

 
 
 
Project Timeline 
 
The Project Construction Schedule is summarized below and subject to change.  
 

• Construction Begins/Site Preparation     October 2020 

• Phase I: Shoreline Grading, Gateway Overlook, Trail Prep                   November-December 2020 

• Phase II: Ongoing Trail Work, Gateway Entry and Amenities              January – April 2021 

• Phase III: Plantings, Final Trail Work, Completion of amenities      May – October 2021 

• Phase IV: Final Details and Restoration                                      November-December 2021 

 



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To:  Park Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Jeff Smith, Director of Planning and Projects; Mari-Lynn Peters, Director of Finance; Brian 

Romes, Executive Director  
 
Date:  December 8, 2020  
 
Subject: Resolution 2020-13 to Approve a Lease Agreement with Realgy, LLC 
 
 
Summary 
 
Over the past year, staff have researched various opportunities for installing solar panels on Park District 
facilities. In March 2020, the Park District signed a Letter of Intent with Realgy, LLC to further investigate 
installing solar panels on the Deer Creek Racquet Club roof through a lease agreement. Staff will review 
the attached lease agreement. The general lease terms are as follows: 
 

• 25-year lease, Park District can terminate after 15 years 

• Installation and maintenance of the Photovoltaic (PV) Solar Power Plant is provided at no charge to 
the Park District  

• Park District is a Realgy customer for Deer Creek Racquet Club energy needs 

 
Based on 2019 usage, the PV Solar Power Plant is estimated to produce 39% of the Deer Creek Racquet 
Club’s energy needs and will provide an estimated annual savings of $4,000. If approved, the PV Solar 
Power Plant is anticipated to be installed in spring 2021. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends approval from the Park Board of Commissioners of Resolution 2020-13 approving a 
Lease Agreement with Realgy, LLC for the installation, operation, and maintenance of a Photovoltaic Solar 
Power Plant on the Deer Creek Racquet Club roof. 
 



PARK DISTRICT OF HIGHLAND PARK 

LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 

RESOLUTION 2020-13 

 

A RESOLUTION  

APPROVING A LEASE AGREEMENT  

WITH REALGY, LLC, 

 

 WHEREAS, the Park District of Highland Park (the “District”) is an Illinois unit of local 

government operating under the Illinois Park District Code, 70 ILCS 1205/1-1, et seq. (the 

“Code”); 

 WHEREAS, Section 10-7(e) of the Code authorizes the District to lease real estate that 

the Board of Park Commissioners (the “Board”) deems is not required for park or recreational 

purposes to any individual or entity and may collect rents therefrom; and provides that such lease 

shall not exceed a term of 90 years; 

 WHEREAS, the District negotiated with RealGY, LLC,, a Connecticut Limited Liability 

Company (the “Tenant”) a Lease Agreement (the “Lease”) for the use of certain defined leased 

premises on property commonly known as Deer Creek Racquet Club building, located at 701 

Deer Creek Pkwy, Highland Park, IL 60035 (the “Property”) for the management, operation and 

maintenance of a photovoltaic solar power plant and appurtenant improvements; 

 WHEREAS, the term of the Lease is for not to exceed 25 years; 

 WHEREAS, the Board finds that the premises leased to the Tenant is not required for 

park or recreational purposes; 

 WHEREAS, the Board finds that the Lease does not provide authority for Tenant to erect 

any permanent building on the Property which shall be considered a fixture thereon which shall 

not be owned by the Park District; 



 WHEREAS, the Board has reviewed the Lease and finds that granting the Lease to the 

Tenant is in the best interest of and shall advance the health, safety and welfare of the Park 

District of Highland Park. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Park Commissioners of the 

Park District of Highland Park, Lake County, Illinois, as follows: 

 1. Recitals.  The Board of Park Commissioners finds the foregoing recitals to be true 

and correct and represent the purpose and intent of this Resolution and as such are incorporated 

as though fully set forth herein. 

 2. Lease Agreement.  A copy of the Lease is attached hereto as Exhibit A and 

incorporated as though fully set forth herein.   

 3. Approval; Delegation of Power.  The Board of Park Commissioners hereby 

exercise the authority described in Section 10-7(e) to ratify and approve the Lease and direct and 

authorize the President and Secretary to sign and attest such Lease.   

 4. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon passage and approval in 

the manner provided by law. 



Passed this ______th day of ___________________, 2020. 

 

      APPROVED: 

 

PARK DISTRICT OF HIGHLAND PARK  

 

 

 

______________________________ 

      President 

ATTEST: 

 

      Date: ___________________________ 

______________________________ 

Secretary 



 

EXHIBIT A 

 

PARK DISTRICT OF HIGHLAND PARK LEASE AGREEMENT WITH REALGY, LLC 

 

 

[Attached Hereto] 

 

 
 
 



Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

 

 

1 

 

Park District of Highland Park Lease Agreement with Realgy, LLC 

This Lease Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made as of ___________________ (the 

“Effective Date”) by and between RealGY, LLC, a Connecticut limited liability company with 

principal offices located at 675 Oakwood Avenue West Hartford, Connecticut, 06110-1929 

(“Realgy”) and the Park District of Highland Park, an Illinois unit of local government (the 

“District”). 

WHEREAS, the Park District of Highland Park owns and operates the Deer Creek 

Racquet Club building, located at 701 Deer Creek Pkwy, Highland Park, IL 60035 (the 
“Racquet Club”); and  

WHEREAS, Realgy is in the business of selling electricity to retail customers and 

installing, owning, and operating photovoltaic installations; and 

WHEREAS, Realgy desires to design, permit, construct, own, maintain, repair and 

operate a photovoltaic solar power plant (the “PV Plant”) on roof, internal area, and electrical-

mechanical/meter space leased by Realgy from the District at the Racquet Club; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to lease a designated portion of the roof of the primary 

building, along with internal area and electrical-mechanical/meter space, within the Racquet 

Club to Realgy for the PV Plant (the “Racquet Club”); and 

WHEREAS, District desires to purchase from Realgy and Realgy desires to sell to the 

District all electric energy required throughout the Racquet Club, under the provisions of the 

Electric Service Agreement (see Section 6) attached to and by this reference incorporated into 

this Agreement as Exhibit A;  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the provisions of this Agreement and other 

good and valuable consideration the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged by Realgy and the 

District, the District and Realgy agree as follows: 

1. Definitions 

(a) “Approved Plans” See Subsection 2(c) and Exhibit B. 

(b) “Commercial Operation” means the first point in time the PV Plant is 

mechanically complete, electrically interconnected and delivering electricity to the Racquet Club 

in the manner required by this Agreement. 

(c) “Commercial Operation Date” means the date on which the PV Plant has 

achieved Commercial Operation as memorialized in a notice from Realgy to the District 

delivered within 30 days after the occurrence of that date. 

(d) “Energy Delivery Point” means the interconnection between the PV Plant and the 

metering equipment that measures the electricity delivered to the Racquet Club by ComEd. 



Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

 

 

2 

 

(e)  “Environmental Attributes” means the characteristics of the electricity generated 

by the PV Plant arising from the attributes that distinguish the PV Plant from fossil-fuel based 

generation units, fuels, or resources or from the electricity generated from those units; 

characteristics of the PV Plant that may result in the reduction of environmental impacts on air, 

soil, or water, including without limitation the absence of emissions of any type attributable to 

the PV Plant. 

(f) “Environmental Incentives” means all rights, credits (including tax credits), 

rebates, benefits, reductions, offsets, and allowances and entitlements of any kind, howsoever 

titled or named (including carbon credits and allowances), whether arising under federal, State of 

Illinois, or local law, international treaty, trade association membership or the like arising from 

the Environmental Attributes of the PV Plant or the production, sale, purchase, consumption, or 

use of the electricity generated by the PV Plant, including any benefits associated with laws, 

regulations, or programs providing for the reporting of the environmental characteristics of the 

PV Plant. Without limiting the forgoing, “Environmental Incentives” includes green tags, 

renewable energy credits, tradable renewable certificates, portfolio energy credits, and the right 

to claim federal income tax credits the Internal Revenue Code, including without limitation 

Sections 45 and 48. 

(g) “Leased Premises.” See Subsection 2(a) of this Agreement. 

(h) “Photovoltaic Solar Power Plant” or “PV Plant” means an electricity generating 

facility that includes, without limitation, solar panels, mounting substrates or supports, wiring, 

and connections and power inverters, with an initial electricity generating capacity of not less 

than one hundred forty (140) kilowatts including without limitation the associated controls, 

meters, switches, connections, conduit, wires, and other related equipment. 

(i) “Racquet Club” means the Deer Creek Racquet Club. 

(j) Intentionally omitted. 

(k) “Rent.” See Subsection 2(b) of this Agreement. 

(l) “Reporting Rights” means the present or future right of Realgy to report to any 

federal, State of Illinois, or local agency, authority, or other party, including without limitation 

under Section 1605(b) of the Energy Policy Act of 1992 and certain provisions of the Energy 

Policy Act of 2005, or under any present or future domestic, international or foreign emissions 

trading program, that Realgy owns the Environmental Attributes and/or the Environmental 

Incentives associated with the energy generated by the PV Plant. 

(m) “Site” means the real property owned by District on which the Racquet Club is 

located. 

(n) “Term.” See Section 4. 

(o) “Uncontrollable Circumstance” means an act of God, strike, lockout or other 

industrial disturbance, act of a public enemy, war, blockade, insurrection, riot, epidemic, 



Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

 

 

3 

 

landslide, lighting, earthquake, fire, storm, hurricane, flood, restraint of governments, civil 

disturbance, or explosion. 

2. Lease of Roof and Access to Leased Premises 

(a) Lease. In consideration of the Rent as defined below and the provisions of this 

Agreement, the District leases to Realgy for the Term that portion of the surface of the roof of 

the Racquet Club designated in Exhibit C attached to and by this reference incorporated into this 

Agreement and internal and meter space within the Racquet Club approved by the District 

(collectively the “Leased Premises”), for the limited purposes of constructing, maintaining, 

owning, maintaining, repairing and operating the PV Plant for the purposes set forth in this 

Agreement. 

(b) Rent. The Rent for the lease of the Leased Premises is the cost reduction realized by 

the District associated with the reduction of the District’s need to purchase electricity from the 

incumbent utility or a third-party provider as a result of the operation of the PV Plant. 

(c) Installation of PV Plant. Realgy will install the PV Plant on the Leased Premises 

in accordance with all warranty requirements provided by Firestone Building Products (roofing 

manufacturer or contractor) and the plans and specifications to be attached to this Agreement as 

Exhibit B (the “Approved Plans”),. Prior to applying for a building permit, Realgy shall submit 

Realgy’s drawings, schedules and layouts to District for conceptual, aesthetic and programmatic 

approval and to confirm compliance with this Agreement.  District’s review and acceptance (or 

approval) shall not be for determining the propriety, accuracy or completeness of the Realgy’s 

work or design, other than as they relate to aesthetics and the District’s general use of the 

Property, nor for the purpose of granting a building permit, and therefore shall not create any 

liability on the part of the District for errors, omissions or inconsistencies or other fault in 

Realgy’s work. Installation of the PV Plant is anticipated to commence within 30 days after the 

Effective Date with completion by December 31, 2021. 

(d) Access; Emergencies. Realgy may access the Racquet Club through the public 

driveway and parking area and may access the Leased Premises via routes approved by the 

District. Realgy will have access to the Leased Premises at all times during regular Racquet Club 

business hours. Realgy must check in at the Racquet Club each time Realgy seeks access to the 

Leased Premises. The District will provide Realgy with a telephone number through which 

Realgy may seek immediate access to the Leased Premises in the event of an emergency. 

(e) Storage. Realgy may not store any equipment, components, or other items of any 

kind within the Racquet Club or the Leased Premises without the prior written consent of the 

District. 

3. Operation and Ownership of the PV Plant 

(a) Operation. Realgy will own, operate, repair and maintain the PV Plant in accordance 

with the Approved Plans and in compliance with all applicable permits, laws, and regulations, all at 

no cost to the District. Realgy must obtain all required permits and authorizations for the PV Plant 



Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

 

 

4 

 

and its installation, maintenance, repair and operation. The District agrees to cooperate with Realgy 

in obtaining the permits and authorizations at no cost to District. 

(b) No Interference. The PV Plant must be maintained and operated in a manner that 

does not interfere with District’s operations of, and programming within, the Racquet Club. 

(c) Ownership of PV Plant. Realgy will remain the owner of the PV Plant during the 

term of this Agreement unless Realgy has assigned this Agreement to a purchaser of the PV Plant 

in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. The PV Plant will not be deemed to be a 

fixture of the Racquet Club. 

(d) Removal and Repairs. Upon expiration of this Agreement, Realgy must remove all 

components of the PV Plant from the Leased Premises within 65 days, weather permitting, except 

if the District approves otherwise in writing. Upon earlier termination of this Agreement, Realgy 

must remove all components of the PV Plant from the Leased Premises within 150 days, weather 

permitting, except if the District approves otherwise in writing. Removal includes without 

limitation (i) abandonment of the conduit in place, (ii) terminating the wiring within the conduit, 

capping all conduit and sealing of all penetrations of the Lease Premises relating to the PV Plant, 

and (iii) repairing all damage to the Leased Premises relating to the PV Plant, except normal wear 

and tear. All removal and repair work described in this paragraph will not be complete until it is 

approved by the District, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. The 

District will allow Realgy access to the Leased Premises as necessary for the required removal 

and repairs. This Subsection (d) will survive any termination or expiration of this Agreement. In 

the event Realgy does not remove the PV Plant, Realgy will deliver to the District a bill of sale for 

the PV Plant in consideration for the removal costs so avoided. 

(e) Periodic Repairs. Realgy must promptly repair any damage to the Leased 

Premises caused by Realgy or the PV Plant as discovered by Realgy or the District, at no cost to 

the District. Such repair will be complete within 90 days. This Subsection (e) will survive any 

termination or expiration of this Agreement. 

(f) Disturbance of PV Plant. If Realgy is required to temporarily remove the PV Plant 

from the Leased Premises due to a repair of damage for which District is responsible, or if 

Realgy is required at the District’s direction to relocate any of Realgy’s equipment within the 

Leased Premises due to no fault or purpose of Realgy, then the District must reimburse Realgy 

for the reasonable costs incurred in connection with the relocation and re-installation of that 

equipment. 

(g) Roof Condition as of Effective Date. The District represents that to the best of its 

knowledge as of the Effective Date there are no leaks in the designated portions of the roof. 

4. Term 

The Agreement commences as of the Effective Date and expires on Term end date (25 

years), subject to earlier termination of this Agreement. 

 



Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

 

 

5 

 

5. Termination by District 

The District may terminate this Agreement at any time after Early Termination date 

of the 15th anniversary of the Effective Date of this Lease, for any reason or no reason, on eight 

(8) month’s written notice to Realgy. 

6. Sale and Purchase of Energy and Consideration to District 

(a) Purchase of PV Plant Electricity; Applicability of Electric Service Agreement.  

(i) Beginning on the Commercial Operation Date, and subject to the term 

limitation described in paragraph (e), Realgy must deliver to the District and the District 

must accept delivery from Realgy all electricity generated by the PV Plant needed to 

operate the Racquet Club in accordance with the provisions of the Electric Service 

Agreement.  

(ii) In the event the Racquet Club requires more energy than the PV Plant can 

deliver (the “Excess Energy”), the District will purchase the Excess Energy from Realgy 

for a term of three (3) years following the Commencement Date (the “Excess Energy 

Supply Term”). As such, upon the expiration of each Excess Energy Supply Term, the 

District may procure a contract to supply its Excess Energy in compliance with the 

following procedure:  (a) the District will decide whether it wishes to purchase its Excess 

Energy on a variable or fixed rate contract; (b) the District will procure bids for its Excess 

Energy (which may include the District’s energy supply needs at other facilities) and 

determine the lowest responsible and responsive bid (the “Competing Offer”) or reject all 

bids; (c) If the District selects a Competing Offer, the District will present the Competing 

Offer to Realgy, which shall have no longer than twelve (12) hours to match all 

characteristics of the Competing Offer, including fixed or variable pricing and the term of 

the contract; and (d) if Realgy matches the Competing Offer, the District will execute a 

contract with Realgy according to the same terms described in the Competing Offer; or (e) 

if Realgy fails to match the Competing Offer the District may execute a contract with the 

bidder who presented the Competing Offer.  If the District rejects all bids, the District and 

Realgy may negotiate an electricity purchase agreement with an Excess Energy Supply 

Term of up to three (3) years.  In no event will the District be deemed in violation or breach 

of this Lease or the Electric Service Agreement for any part of the Term during which it 

purchases its Excess Energy from a third party in compliance with the procedures set forth 

herein. 

(iii) In the event of a conflict between a provision of the Electric Service 

Agreement and a provision of this Agreement, the provision of this Agreement will apply 

and control. 

(b) Ownership and Use of Electricity. Realgy is the owner of all electricity generated 

by the PV Plant until the electricity is purchased by the District. Subject to the term limitation 

described in paragraph (e), the District will be the sole purchaser of the electricity generated by 

the PV Plant except only if the amount of electricity generated by the PV Plant exceeds the total 

amount of electricity required for all purposes within the Racquet Club. The District will 



Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

 

 

6 

 

purchase the PV Plant’s generated electricity at the price and subject to the relevant terms 

contracted for the Excess Energy Supply during each effective Excess Energy Supply Term, 

regardless of whether Realgy is the energy supplier for the Excess Energy. Subject to the term 

limitation described in paragraph (e), the District may contract with Realgy directly outside the 

Excess Energy Supply procedure for the price and terms of the PV Plant’s electricity. Realgy 

may deliver to ComEd’s distribution system any electricity generated by the PV Plant that 

exceeds the total amount of electricity required for all purposes by the Racquet Club. In 

connection with any delivery of electricity to ComEd’s distribution system, Realgy is solely 

responsible at its sole expense for making all arrangements with ComEd. All proceeds of any 

sale of energy to ComEd or another third party through ComEd’s distribution system will be the 

property of Realgy. 

(c) Cost Reduction Benefits. The District and Realgy anticipate the operation of the 

PV Plant will reduce the Excess Energy demand associated with the use of energy at the Racquet 

Club. The District is the sole beneficiary of the benefits associated with any such reduction in the 

District’s electrical demand. 

(d) District Credits. Commencing on PV Plant credit date at the end of year 6 on the 

anniversary of the plant’s commercial start-up, the District will receive a credit on its invoice 

from Realgy no less frequently than once each quarter. The credit for each quarter will be an 

amount equal to the cost per kilowatt hour paid by the District for electricity purchased from the 

PV Plant during the immediately preceding quarter multiplied by a number equal to one percent 

of the number of kilowatt hours of energy produced by the PV Plant during the immediately 

preceding quarter. The credit percentage will increase by an additional one percent on January 1 

of each subsequent calendar year. The credit applicable to the last quarter of this Agreement 

(whether because of expiration or termination) will be calculated as set forth above and Realgy 

must pay to the District an amount equal to that credit within 10 business days. In the event of 

termination of this Agreement, the credit will be discontinued as of the effective date of the 

termination. The payment of the credits herein described shall be suspended for each Excess 

Energy Supply Term for which the price for the Excess Energy is set by a Competing Offer; 

provided the growth of the credit percentage shall not be changed.  

(e) Term Limits. The District is granted statutory authority to make contracts for a 

term exceeding one year, but not to exceed 3 years, for the purchase of energy from a utility or an 

alternative retail electric supplier. 70 ILCS 1205/8-1(i). Notwithstanding anything in this 

Agreement to the contrary, in no event shall the District be obligated to purchase the Excess 

Energy or the energy from the PV Plant for any term which exceeds three (3) years.  In no event 

will the District be deemed in violation or breach of this Lease or the Electric Service Agreement 

as a result of the statutory limitations herein described.  

7. Taxes 

(a) Reimbursement. Except for those taxes for which the District is exempt, the 

District must reimburse Realgy for all State of Illinois or local taxes assessed against Realgy in 

connection with the electricity purchased by the District under this Agreement. Realgy is 

responsible for payment of income taxes. 



Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

 

 

7 

 

(b) Taxes on PV Plant. Realgy is responsible for all taxes and assessments, including 

real estate taxes, levied against the leasehold interest created by this Lease and the personal 

property that comprises the PV Plant. The District agrees to cooperate with Realgy’s efforts to 

oppose any such tax or assessment at Realgy’s sole expense. The District may not impose a tax 

or fee on the PV Plant by reason of its status as a PV Plant, but it may levy generally applicable 

taxes that apply to the leasehold interest created by this Lease.  

(c) Taxes on the Racquet Club. The District is responsible for all real estate taxes or 

assessments against the Racquet Club. Realgy must reimburse the District for any tax or 

assessment imposed or increased against the Racquet Club or the District due to the presence of 

the PV Plant within the Racquet Club. The District agrees to cooperate with Realgy’s efforts to 

oppose any such tax or assessment at Realgy’s sole expense. 

8. Environmental Attributes 

Realgy will own, and may assign or sell in its discretion, all right, title, and interest 

associated with or resulting from the development or installation of the PV Plant or the 

production, sale, purchase, or use of the output of the PV Plant including without limitation: 

(i) all Environmental Incentives associated with the PV Plant; 

(ii) all Reporting Rights associated with the PV Plant; 

(iii) All claims associated with reductions in emissions of pollution and greenhouse 

gases resulting from the generation of the energy by the PV Plant; 

(iv) Any credits, certificates, registrations, or similar instruments evidencing or 

representing any of the foregoing. 

9. Metering; District Access to Records; Monitoring 

Realgy or ComEd may install additional equipment necessary to ensure correct metering of 

the electricity generated by the PV Plant. The District will provide Internet access for Realgy. The 

District may inspect all Realgy records related to the operation and maintenance of the PV Plant 

and all delivery, distribution, and sale of electricity generated by the PV Plant at any time during 

normal business hours with reasonable advance notice to Realgy. At the District’s request, Realgy 

must provide (at no cost to the District) all such records to the District in an electronic format the 

District is capable of reviewing. Realgy must provide and install a computer monitor at a suitable 

location designated by the District within the Racquet Club site along with software necessary to 

monitor the performance and operation of the PV Plant. 

10. Ownership of Electricity Delivered to District 

Title to and risk of loss of the electricity generated by the PV Plant will transfer from 

Realgy to the District on delivery of the electricity to the District at the Energy Delivery Point. All 

deliveries of electricity will be in the form of three-phase, sixty-cycle alternating current. 

 



Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

 

 

8 

 

11. Invoices and Payment 

Invoicing and payment will be made under the Electric Service Agreement. 

12. Representations and Warranties; Covenants of the Parties 

(a) General. The District and Realgy each represents and warrants to the other that (i) 

it is duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of the state of its 

formation and has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform 

its obligations hereunder, (ii) the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance 

of its obligations under this Agreement have been authorized by all necessary actions, (iii) this 

Agreement is a legal, valid, and binding obligation on it, and (iv) to its knowledge, no 

governmental approval other than those already obtained or disclosed in writing is required in 

connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by it or the performance by it of its 

obligations hereunder. 

(b) Compliance with Laws and Regulations. Realgy is in, and will remain, in 

compliance with all laws and regulations applicable to the installation and operation of the PV 

Plant, the sale, delivery, or distribution of electricity generated by the PV Plant, and the 

purchase, delivery, or distribution of any electricity for or from any third party source. 

(c) Quiet Enjoyment. The District represents that so long as Realgy complies with the 

provisions of this Agreement Realgy will have quiet and peaceful possession and enjoyment of 

the Leased Premises for the purposes set forth in this Agreement. 

(d) No Conflicting Use. The District will not conduct any activity that it knows or 

reasonably should know may damage or otherwise adversely affect the PV Plant. 

13. No Liens 

Realgy must not cause any lien to attach to any District property in connection with the 

installation, operation, repair, replacement, removal or maintenance of the PV Plant (including any 

mechanic’s, labor, or materials lien). If at any time any such lien or claim for lien arises, then 

Realgy must promptly cause that lien or claim for lien to be discharged and released of record 

without cost to the District, and Realgy agrees to and must indemnify the District against all costs 

and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred in discharging and releasing that lien. This 

section will survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. 

14. Indemnifications and Releases 

(a) Realgy. Realgy agrees to and must indemnify and defend the District from and 

against any and all claims, lawsuits, and other actions arising from or in any way related to or 

connected with any injury, death, accident, mishap, or property damage arising out of or in 

connection with the installation, operation, maintenance, repair, removal, or other activity of or 

related to the PV Plant. 



Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

 

 

9 

 

(b) District. The District agrees to and must indemnify and defend the Realgy from and 

against any and all third party claims, lawsuits, and other actions arising from or in any way related 

to or connected with any injury, death, accident, mishap, or property damage arising out of the 

negligence or willful or wanton conduct of the District in connection with the operation of the 

Racquet Club.  Nothing herein shall represent or be construed as a waiver of any defenses or 

immunities granted the District in statute or common law. 

(c) Realgy hereby forever releases and waives any claims against the District resulting 

from injury, death or accident suffered by a Realgy employee in the course of business. 

15. Insurance 

The District will maintain in effect during the Term the insurance coverage it has through 

the Park District Risk Management Agency. 

Realgy will maintain in effect during the Term all of the following insurance coverage 

and must provide the District with a certificate and endorsement establishing the District as 

additional insured under all liability policies herein described: 

(a) Workers’ Compensation to the extent of statutory limits and Occupational Disease 

and Employer’s Liability Insurance for not less than $500,000 per accidence and per disease. All 

Workers’ Compensation insurance carried and maintained by Realgy shall have no exclusions 

for COVID-19 related illnesses or deaths. 

(b) Commercial General Liability with limits not less than: 

(i) Personal Injury - $2,000,000 per occurrence and 

(ii) Property Damage - $2,000,000 per occurrence. 

(c) Commencing on the Commercial Operation Date, Property Coverage – Not less 

than $300,000, or the full replacement value of the PV Plant, whichever is greater. 

(d) Contractors. All contractors and other third parties Realgy authorizes to enter the 

Leased Premises must carry the same Workers’ Compensation and Commercial General 

Liability coverage required of Realgy and must provide the District with a certificate and 

endorsement establishing the District as an additional insurance under that coverage. In addition, 

all contractors must carry Automobile Liability coverage with limits not less than Bodily Injury-

$1,000,000 each accident and Property Damage-$1,000,000 each accident. 

16. Breach; Remedies 

(a) Breach of Agreement. Each of the following actions is a breach of this 

Agreement: 

(i) Failure to make a payment within 15 business days after written notice that the 

payment is due. 



Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

 

 

10 

 

(ii) Failure to perform any material obligation under in this Agreement and failure to 

cure the nonperformance within 25 days after notice from the non-breaching party 

or if the cure cannot reasonably be completed within the 25-day period, then a 

reasonable additional period of time so long as the breaching party commenced 

the cure promptly after notice was received and diligently and continuously 

pursues the cure to completion. 

(iii) Any filing seeking reorganization or arrangement under federal bankruptcy laws 

or any other applicable law or statute. 

(iv) Any assignment for the benefit of creditors. 

(v) Any consents to the appointment of a receiver of the whole or any substantial part 

of the party’s assets. 

(vii) Any petition in bankruptcy filed against a party if the petition is not dismissed 

within 90 days after it is filed. 

(viii) Any order, judgment, or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction appointing a 

receiver of the whole or any substantial part of a party’s assets and that order, 

judgment, or decree is not vacated or set aside or stayed within 90 days after it is 

entered. 

(b) Action on Breach. Upon the occurrence of a breach, the non-breaching party may 

terminate this Agreement and pursue its legal remedies. 

17. No Assumption of Waiver 

A waiver of a right or claim of breach will not be deemed to be a waiver of any 

subsequent exercise of a right or claim of breach.  All waivers must be in writing to be effective. 

18. Limitation of Liability 

The liability of a breaching party will be limited to direct, actual damages only and all 

other damages and remedies are waived. In no event will the District or Realgy be liable to the 

other for consequential, incidental, punitive, exemplary, or indirect damages, lost profits or 

business interruption damages, by statute, in tort, contract or otherwise. 

19. Force Majeure 

If either the District or Realgy is rendered unable, wholly or in part, by an Uncontrollable 

Circumstance to carry out an obligation under this Agreement, and that party gives prompt 

written notice and reasonably full particulars of the Uncontrollable Circumstance and its 

consequences to the other party, then the obligation of the affected party will be suspended so far 

as and so long as it is affected by the Uncontrollable Circumstance. 

 



Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

11 

20. Notices

A notice required under this Agreement must be mailed by certified mail, postage 

prepaid, return receipt requested, or delivered by private courier service, or personally delivered 

to a representative of the receiving party. All notices must be addressed to the party for whom it 

is intended as follows: 

If to Realgy: 

If to District: 

Realgy, LLC 

675 Oak Wood Avenue 

West Hartford, Connecticut 06110-2427 

Telephone: 860-233-2270 

Email: legal@realgy.com  

Park District of Highland Park Executive 

Director 636 Ridge Road 

Highland Park, Illinois 60035-4361 

Telephone: 847-831-3810 

Email: planning@pdhp.org 

A notice will be deemed to have been received when delivered in person or on receipt as 

evidenced by the receipt issued by the U.S. Postal Service or private courier service delivering 

the notice. Either Party may change its address for receipt of notices by notice to the other Party 

as set out above. 

21. Confidentiality

All non-public information provided by either party to the other that is identified in 

writing as confidential or proprietary information must be treated in a confidential manner and 

must not be disclosed to any third party without the prior written consent of the party providing 

the information, except if required by law or court order.  Realgy acknowledges that the District 

is a public body subject to compliance with the Freedom of Information Act.  In the event the 

District receives a Freedom of Information Act request for documents which Realgy has 

identified as confidential or proprietary, the District will notify Realgy of such request and 

attempt to assert the corresponding exception under the Act to deny the request; provided that in 

the event of a request for review or appeal of such denial, Realgy will indemnify, defend and 

save the District harmless from all costs (including reasonable attorneys’ fees), liabilities, 

judgments, fines and penalties resulting from such denial. 

22. Assignment

Neither Realgy nor the District may assign this Agreement or any of its rights hereunder 

without the prior written consent of the other Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably 

withheld or delayed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Realgy may, upon written notice, (i) 

transfer or assign this Agreement to any person or entity that becomes the owner of the PV Plant, 

if but only if the assignee shall agree to be bound by the terms and conditions hereof and is 

licensed to sell electricity to the District under Illinois law; or (ii) assign its rights under this 

Agreement to a successor entity in a merger or acquisition transaction, provided, however, that 

any such assignee shall agree to be bound by the terms and conditions hereof and is licensed to 



Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

 

 

12 

 

sell electricity to the District under Illinois law. No such assignment shall be effective until 

written notice of such assignment is provided to the other Party.  

23. Amendments 

This Agreement may be amended only in writing properly approved and signed by both 

the District and Realgy. 

 

24. Entire Agreement 

This Agreement is the entire agreement between Realgy and the District relating to the 

PV Plant and every subject matter hereof. There are no other applicable or effective terms or 

agreements, written or oral. 

25. No Third Party Beneficiaries 

Nothing in this Agreement is intended to, or will, benefit any third party or entitle any 

third party to any claim, cause of action, remedy or right of any kind. 

26. Survival of Certain Provisions 

A section or subsection of this Agreement that states it will survive the expiration or 

termination of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect after the expiration or 

termination of this Agreement shall until the terms of that section or subsection are fulfilled. 

27. Governing Law 

This Agreement shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of the 

State of Illinois, without regard to conflicts of law rules.  Venue for any dispute arising under 

this Agreement will be in any court with primary jurisdiction over Lake County, Illinois. 

28. Cooperation 

Realgy and the District each will reasonably cooperate with the other in signing 

documents and taking additional actions reasonably necessary to carry out the terms and intent of 

this Agreement. 

29. No Recording Against District Property 

This Agreement may not be recorded against any property owned by the District. 

30. Exclusive Lease 

So long as this Agreement is in effect, the District will not enter into an agreement with 

any other entity regarding the installation or operation of any electric power generation including 

without limitation solar power, wind power, or cogeneration at the Racquet Club. 

  



Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

 

 

13 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Realgy and the District each has caused this Agreement to be 

signed by its representative’s property authorized to do so. 

DISTRICT 

By: 

 

_________________________________________ 

Barnett Ruttenberg, President, Board of Park Commissioners 

Attest: 

 

 

By: _________________________________________ 

 Brian Romes, Secretary, Board of Park Commissioners  

 

REALGY, LLC 

By:  

 ________________ _______________  

Managing Partner 

Attest: 

 

By:  _________________________________  

 

I t s :__________________________________  

 

 

 

  



Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

 

 

14 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

ENERGY PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

 

 

  



ELECTRIC SERVICE AGREEMENT 
REALGY ENERGY SERVICES – ILLINOIS MANAGEDPRICETM COMMERCIAL 
  

Realgy Energy Services (RES or Seller) Contact: Customer Service, Online appointment scheduler 

 1900 E. Golf Road, STE 950A    http://realgyenergyservices.com/schedule-customer-service-appointment/ 

 Schaumburg, Illinois 60173    Toll Free: 877-431-8527     Fax: 860-233-3884     Direct: 860-233-2270 x8000 
       E-Mail: enroll@realgy.com 
 

Buyer (“Customer”) ___Park District of Highland Park_________________________________    Commercial Accounts Only 

 Contact Name: _Mari-Lynn Peters___________________________________________________________________ 

                          Telephone: (__847__) __579___-__3138_________   Ext.___________ 

                                Fax: (______) ________-______________         Email ________________mlpeters@pdhp.org____.________   

 Service Address: __701 Deer Creek Parkway__________________________________________________________ 

 City: _Highland Park_______________________________ Illinois   Zip Code: _____60035______ - ___4500_______ 
 

 Commercial Trade References:  At least 3 references provided.  Tax-exempt exemption certificate:   provided. 
 

Attach or complete ONE of the following: 

  copy of an invoice per location;  Customer enrollment attachment; or  as listed below: 
 

Account Number(s) ____________________________________________________________________ 
               

Utility: AMEREN Illinois, MidAmerican, Mount Carmel and Commonwealth Edison Invoicing: Utility 1-bill or 2-bill; Delivery Point: 

approved Utility interconnect point; Special Terms & Conditions: None; Service: Full-Requirements; Program: Customer Choice 

Program; Taxes: Taxable; Regulatory Agency: Illinois Commerce Commission (ICC)  
 

Product/Regulation: Buyer authorizes Seller to act as its authorized agent, to execute any and all documents, and to 

take any and all actions necessary for participation in Utility's Program and Realgy’s Illinois ManagedPriceTM pool.  

Agent’s authorization includes receiving from or sending to Utility all information regarding billing, pricing, payments and 

service for Buyer’s accounts listed in this Agreement.  Buyer agrees to purchase all its electricity usage and 

requirements from Seller according to this Agreement.  Seller will deliver Buyer’s electricity to Delivery Point where the 

electricity is transferred to Buyer’s Utility.  Buyer is responsible for Utility distribution charges to its metered service 

locations and installing, maintaining and operating all equipment required by Utility to receive electrical service except 

such equipment comprising part of the PV Plant owned by Seller, as defined in the PV Lease Agreement between 

Buyer and Seller. The measurement and use of electricity will be according to the rules of the Utility.  If there is a 

change in regulation, law or rule that results in an increase or decrease in the cost components of the Price, then Seller 

shall pass through such changes on Buyer’s invoice or reform this agreement as necessary.  Buyer will be charged for 

the Utility’s distribution and monthly service charge as well as RES’s supply charge. The utility will continue to read your 

meter, send you a monthly bill and respond to any emergency or service outage. 
 

Quantity: Seller unconditionally guarantees delivery of the electricity supply to Buyer’s Delivery Point(s), subject only to 

service supply interruptions that would otherwise occur if the Buyer continued to be supplied by the Utility. Seller 

warrants that the quality of the electricity will be the same as that supplied by Utility.  
 

Term and Renewal: Buyer’s Price and Quantity terms will begin on the date the Utility reads each service location’s 

meter and transfers them to Seller and will continue for 24 months (Term). Service under this Agreement will renew for 

an additional Term until terminated or canceled.   
 

Termination: in accordance with PV Lease Agreement between Buyer and Seller.  
 

Illinois ManagedPriceTM: Buyer will be enrolled in a RES’s Illinois ManagedPriceTM Commercial Service pool(s) and 

receive the same price as all participants in that pool (Price) unless Buyer converts to a Fixed Price.  RES will make 

purchase decisions, on behalf of pool participants, to provide a low consistent Price while reducing the negative effects 

http://realgyenergyservices.com/schedule-customer-service-appointment/
mailto:enroll@realgy.com


ESA - Illinois ManagedPrice Commercial with PDHP v1.6 / Page 2 of 2 

of market volatility.  RES’s ManagedPriceTM is calculated hourly and applies for all energy used each hour. The 

ManagedPriceTM includes all actual supply costs (such as applicable Ancillary Services, Settlement charges, Capacity, Transmission and 

Delivery Service, Pool Management Fee, Renewal Portfolio Standard or Goals, Losses and Reconciliation) except for a pool participation fee of 

$4.75 / month. RES utilizes the following purchasing options, including renewable, local and green resources; 

o Day-ahead Market Price a price equal to the applicable hourly ISO day-ahead Locational Marginal Price 

(LMP) at the Delivery Point.  

o Real-time Market Price is the price equal to the applicable hourly ISO real-time LMP at the Delivery Point. 

o Fixed Price is the price equal to the hedged future monthly electricity prices as executed through the New 

York Mercantile Exchange (NYMEX), Chicago Board of Trade (CBOT) or Intercontinental Exchange (ICE) 

for delivery to or offset at the Delivery Point. 
 

All participants are charged the same management fee. A 24 month price comparison between Realgy’s price of electricity and the 

Utility’s is always available through realgyenergyservices.com or by contacting Customer Service. 
 

Fixed Price: The Buyer will be enrolled in Seller’s PriceWatchTM Service which looks to offer a low seasonal Fixed Price 

for Buyer’s energy purchases. Buyer’s consent will be required for conversion to a Fix Price which can take place at any 

time without an additional fee.   The Fixed Price Amendment (Amendment) will attach to this Agreement.  
 

ServiceMatchTM: Buyer has the right to present all written offers to RES that provide pricing and terms for Service 

under the Program. RES will match the proposed terms and pricing from all qualified electric service providers. If RES 

cannot offer better terms or pricing or match the same terms and pricing RES will within 60 days, upon receipt of 

Buyer’s written request, release the Buyer to the new service provider. ServiceMatchTM is not valid when Buyer has a 

Fixed Price.  
 

Invoicing/Payment: If an actual meter reading or charge is not available, an estimated reading or charge may be 

substituted and corrected as necessary with the following month's invoice.  Seller’s monthly invoice will be sent by the 

Utility (1-bill) or RES (2-bill). If sent by Utility the invoice will be subject to Utility’s terms and conditions.  If sent by Seller, 

Buyer will pay Seller the total amount shown on the monthly billing within 30 days from the date of the billing. Payments 

not paid to Seller, according to billed terms, will incur interest at 1.5% (or the highest amount allowed by law) plus any 

credit and collection costs (including reasonable attorney fees) incurred by Seller.  Any amount paid on past due 

accounts will be first applied to principal and then to interest.  Buyer agrees to pay for all reasonable collection fees to 

collect on unpaid amounts due. Buyer agrees that late payment of RES monthly invoice is cause for termination of this 

Agreement.  
 

 Buyer acknowledges enrolling only commercial accounts and receiving a copy of this Agreement  

 (please check box if a copy was received). 
 

 

 __________________________________________________________________________________________  

Signature ** Print Name/ Title DATE 

** If you are not the legal account holder, print your relationship below              Seller’s Authorized Representative: ________ 

   (Initial) 

https://corprealgy-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/michael_vrtis_realgy_com/EdytUcPHw85Ht2ZR2EafWjsBTkouponayVoMEIrzOWHu9w


Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

 

 

16 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

APPROVED PLANS FOR PV PLANT 

 

(TO BE ADDED) 

 

 

 

  



Lease for PV Plant November 2020 

 

 

17 

 

 

EXHIBIT C 

 

DEPICTION OF LEASED PREMISES 

 

 



Site Assessment

Customer: 
Address: 

System size:
Yr 1 Production: 
Designer: 
Date: 

Indoor Tennis Courts n/a 
Deer Creek Indoor Tennis
701 Deer Creek Parkway, Highland Park 

149.76 kW
181,468 kWh
Paul Szczesny 
October 7th, 2020 

The area of the roof depicted in the below rendering is the approximate location for the solar photovoltaic 
array and all related equipment such as racking, conduit and wire. A more complete version will replace this 
existing version after permit approval.  



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To:  Park Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Jeff Smith, Director of Planning and Projects; Brian Romes, Executive Director  
 
Date:  December 8, 2020  
 
Subject: Rosewood Beach Interpretive Cove Protection Project Update  
 
 
Summary 
 
At the October 27, 2020 Board Meeting, staff reviewed the back of beach protection options for the 
Rosewood Beach Interpretive Cove to determine which option SmithGroup should complete construction 
documents for. Options discussed were: 
 

Option 1 – Removal of Chaise Lounge/Overlook Area & 
Construction of Long-Term Protection (Sheetpile Wall and Armor Stone) 
• Estimated Cost - $600,000 
• Life Expectancy - 50+ Years 

 
Option 2 – Removal of Chaise Lounge/Overlook Area & 

Construction of Mid-Term Protection (TrapBag) 
• Estimated Cost - $300,000 
• Life Expectancy - ~15 Years 

 
At this meeting, it was requested that the remaining amount on the contract with SmithGroup be reported 
to the Board. Below is a breakdown of the contract costs. 
 

  Contract Amount Earned Remaining 

Interpretive Cove Construction Documents $25,500 $21,800 $3,700 

Swimming Cove Construction Documents $13,200 $11,360 $1,840 

 
This information was shared with the Finance Committee at the November 24 Meeting. The Committee 
recommended that the Park Board of Commissioners provide consensus to proceed with the completion 
of the Interpretive Cove construction documents using Option 2 for Removal of Chaise Lounge/Overlook 
Area & Construction of Mid-Term Protection using TrapBags.   This will allow the Park District to be 
prepared if the Park Board of Commissioners chooses to proceed with construction in the future. 



2 
 

Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends consensus from the Park Board of Commissioners to proceed with the completion of 
construction documents in the amount of $3,700 using Option 2 for Removal of Chaise Lounge/Overlook 
Area & Construction of Mid-Term Protection using TrapBags.   



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To:  Park Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Jeff Smith, Director of Planning and Projects; Brian Romes, Executive Director  
 
Date:  December 8, 2020  
 
Subject: Rosewood Beach Boardwalk Repair Update 
 
 
Summary 
 
At the August 25, 2020 Board Meeting, Adam Hammen of SmithGroup presented findings from their 
investigation of the boardwalk along the lower parking lot of Rosewood Beach. He discussed the cause of 
the settling and tilting of the boardwalk and presented three repair options:  
  

Option 1 – Sheet Pile 
• Estimated Cost - $160,000 - 180,000 
• Life Expectancy - 50+ Years 

 
Option 2 – Concrete Slab 

• Estimated Cost - $70,000 - 80,000 
• Life Expectancy - ~25 Years 

 
Option 3 – Chemical Grout 

• Estimated Cost - $45,000 - $50,000 
• Life Expectancy – 5 - 15 Years 

 
Staff have further researched these options and determined that Option 3 – Chemical Grout can be 
conducted for lower than originally anticipated. Staff have received a quote from Atlas Restoration for 
$12,560 to inject high-density polyurethane grout into the void under the concrete slab to stabilize the 
boardwalk and prevent further movement. As the exact size of the void is unknown, this is a minimum cost 
and additional grout beyond the original estimate will be charged at $625 per cubic yard. Due to the size 
of the area, it is unlikely that the concrete slab will be able to be raised. Therefore, Park District staff will 
level the boardwalk externally once the work has been completed. 
 
This information was shared with the Finance Committee at the November 24th Meeting. The Committee 
recommended that the Park Board of Commissioners provide consensus to proceed with Option 3 – 
Chemical Grout at a minimum cost of $12,560. 
 



2 
 

Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends consensus from the Park Board of Commissioners to proceed with repair option 3 for 
the Rosewood Beach Boardwalk repair, authorizing the Executive Director to enter into a contract with 
Atlas Restoration for High-Density Polyurethane Voidfill and Slabjacking to repair of the Rosewood Beach 
Boardwalk at a minimum cost of $12,560. 



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To:  Park Board of Commissioners   
 
From:   Mari-Lynn Peters, Director of Finance; Brian Romes, Executive Director    
 
Date:  December 8, 2020 
 
Subject:  Ordinance 2020-05 2020 Tax Levy 
 
  
Background:  
 
On November 19, 2020, the Park Board of Commissioners passed the Truth in Taxation Resolution for the 
2020 tax levy (2021 collections). By law, the District must wait for 20 days to officially pass the 2020 tax 
levy ordinance to formalize the estimated levy described in the resolution. No changes have been since 
the Board approved the resolution. 
 
The 2020 tax levy ordinance represents the District’s request for property taxes and reflects an increase of 
0.00% from the 2019 property taxes collected during 2020, based on a CPI increase of 2.3% for those funds 
which are under the property tax cap and .0245% per $100 Equalized Assessed Valuation for the Special 
Recreation Fund. This levy focuses on capturing new growth within the District. The levy request, exclusive 
of debt service, totals $11,743,050 (eleven million, seven hundred forty-three thousand, fifty dollars). 
 
The draft ordinance is attached for Board review. Upon passage of the ordinance at the December 15 Park 
Board Meeting, staff will deliver an executed copy to Lake County so that it may be recorded by the legal 
deadline of the last Tuesday of the year.  
 
Recommendation: 
 
As the Truth in Taxation Resolution for the 2020 tax levy has stood for at least 20 days, the District will 
recommend approval from the Park Board of Commissioners at the December 15 Board Meeting to pass 
the 2020 tax levy ordinance and formalize the estimated tax levy.  Upon passage, staff will deliver an 
executed copy to be recorded by the legal deadline with Lake County. 



 
#2020-05 

 
AN ORDINANCE FOR THE LEVY OF TAXES 

FOR THE PARK DISTRICT OF HIGHLAND PARK FOR 
2020 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE PARK DISTRICT 
OF HIGHLAND PARK, COUNTY OF LAKE AND STATE OF ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION 1:  That the sum of Eleven Million, Seven Hundred Forty-Three Thousand, 
Fifty Dollars ($11,743,050) being the total amount required to be raised by taxation for 
the year 2020 by the Park District of Highland Park, Illinois for all corporate purposes of 
said Park District and for purposes of providing for the Corporate Fund, a Recreation 
Fund, and a Special Needs Recreation Fund be and the same is hereby levied upon all 
taxable property within said Park District of Highland Park subject to taxation for said 
year in the amounts and for the uses and purposes itemized below: 
 

I. The amount to be raised by Tax Levy for Corporate Purposes: (Authority Sec.  
5-1 Park District Code) 

 
Salaries    $2,794,012 
Contractual Services    1,020,562 
Utilities         123,727 
Materials and Supplies       236,929 
Insurance                1,147,132 
Maintenance and Landscaping        90,883 
Pension         319,611 
 

   Total Levy for Corporate Fund   $5,732,856 
 
 

II. The amount to be raised by Tax Levy for Recreation Purposes: 
 

A) Recreation Fund: (Authority Sec. 5-2a Park District Code) 
 

Salaries and Wages             $3,086,950 
Contractual Services       599,786 
Utilities         449,501 
Materials and Supplies       215,532 
Maintenance and Landscape      184,776 
Insurance         628,782 
Pension                                              254,867 
 
Total Levy for Recreation Fund $5,420,194  
            

 



  
III. The amount to be raised by Tax Levy for Handicapped Recreation Purposes: 

(Authority Sec. 5-8 Park District Code) 
 
District’s share of expenses  

   providing recreational programs  
   for individuals with special needs 

under a joint agreement with the 
members of the North Suburban  
Special Recreation Association    $     377,542 

            Capital Outlay          212,458 
 

 Total Levy for Handicapped  
Recreation Fund   $     590,000 
 
 

TOTAL AMOUNT LEVIED            $ 11,743,050 
 
 

SUMMARY 
 

Total Tax Levy for General Corporate Purposes:          $      5,732,856 
 

Total Tax Levy for Recreation Purposes:            $      5,420,194 
 
Total Tax Levy for Handicapped Recreation Purposes:         $         590,000 
 
  Total Amount Levied                      $    11,743,050 
 
 
 
 
SECTION 2.  That the total amount of Eleven Million, Seven Hundred Forty-Three 
Thousand, Fifty Dollars ($11,743,050) itemized as aforesaid, be, and the same is hereby 
levied on all property subject to taxation within the Park District of Highland Park 
according to the value of said property as the same is assessed and equalized for State 
and County purposes for the year 2020. 
 
SECTION 3.  That there is hereby certified to the County Clerk of Lake County, Illinois, 
the several sums aforesaid constituting Eleven Million, Seven Hundred Forty-Three 
Thousand, Fifty Dollars ($11,743,050) which said total amount the said Park District of 
Highland Park requires to be raised by taxation for the year 2020 of said Park District, 
and the Secretary of said District is hereby ordered and directed to file with the County 
Clerk of said County on or before the time required by law, a certified copy of this 
Ordinance, along with the certificate of the Park District’s presiding officer pertaining to 
compliance with the Truth in Taxation Law. 
 



SECTION 4.  Pursuant to Section 4-4 of the Park District Code, 70 ILCS 1205/4-4, 
neither the Park District’s Budget and Appropriation Ordinance for the fiscal year 
beginning on January 1, 2021 and ending on December 31, 2021, nor any other Budget 
and Appropriation Ordinance is intended to or required to be in support of or in relation to 
the Levy made by this Ordinance. 
 
 
SECTION 5.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force and effect immediately 
on and after its passage and approval. 
 
ADOPTED this 15th day of December 2020, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows: 
 
AYES:              
 
               
 
NAYS:              
 
                          
 
ABSENT AND NOT VOTING:          
 
              
 
 
 
              
      Barnett Ruttenberg, President 
      Board of Park Commissioners 
      Park District of Highland Park 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
       
Brian Romes, Secretary  
Board of Park Commissioners 
Park District of Highland Park 
 
STATE OF ILLINOIS) 
   )  SS 
COUNTY OF LAKE ) 
 
 



CERTIFICATION 
 

 I, Brian Romes, the duly qualified and acting Secretary of the Park District of  
 
Highland Park and the keeper of the Official records thereof, 
 
 
 DO HEREBY CERTIFY, that the attached Ordinance is a true, correct and 

compared copy of an Ordinance entitled “An Ordinance for the Levy of Taxes for the 

Park District of Highland Park for the Year 2021,” which was duly passed by the Board of 

Park Commissioners of the Park District of Highland Park at a regularly convened 

meeting held on the 15thth day of December, A.D., 2020. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto affixed my official signature this 15th 

day of December, A.D., 2020. 

 

 

 

             
Brian Romes, Secretary  
Board of Park Commissioners 
Park District of Highland Park 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CERTIFICATE OF PRESIDING OFFICER 
 
 

I, BARNETT RUTTENBERG, hereby certify that I am the duly elected President of 
the Board of Park Commissioners of the Park District of Highland Park, Highland Park, 
Lake County, Illinois, and that as such President, I am the current presiding officer of the 
corporate authority of said Park District. 

 
I further certify that the attached copy of an ordinance levying and assessing 

taxes of the Park District of Highland Park for the year 2020 was adopted pursuant to, 
and in all respects in compliance with, the provisions of Sections 18-60 through 18-85 of 
The Truth in Taxation Law (“LAW”). 

 
The notice and hearing requirements of Sections 18-70 through 18-85 of the Law 

are applicable. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have signed my name in my official capacity as the 

President and current presiding officer of the Board of Park Commissioners of the Park 
District of Highland Park of Highland Park, Illinois this 15th day of December 2020. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

             
Barnett Ruttenberg, President 
Board of Park Commissioners 
Park District of Highland Park 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

























































1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To:  Park Board of Commissioners   
 
From: Brian Romes, Executive Director   
 
Date:  December 8, 2020   
 
Subject: COVID-19 Emergency Operations Planning Update  
 

 
 
Summary 
 
Executive Director Romes will provide an update regarding the Park District’s emergency operational 
plans and response efforts due to the SARS-CoV-2 (Corona) Virus.   
 
  


	AGENDA - December 08, 2020 Workshop Meeting
	XII. CLOSED SESSION PURSUANT TO THE FOLLOWING SECTIONS OF THE OPEN MEETINGS ACT:  Section 2(c)1 – the appointment, employment, compensation, discipline of the District including legal counsel for the District; Section 2(c)5 – the purchase or lease of ...

	Sunset Woods Playground Renovation Design and Park Master Plan Update Memo
	The Preserve of Highland Park Project Update Memo
	Subject:  The Preserve of Highland Park Project Update

	Resolution 2020-13 to Approve Lease Agreement with Realgy, LLC Memo
	Resolution 2020-13 Approving Realgy Lease
	Rosewood Beach Interpretive Cove Protections Update Memo
	Rosewood Beach Boardwalk Repair Update Memo
	Tax Levy Ordinance 2020-05 Memo
	Ordinance  2020-05 Tax Levy 2020
	SUMMARY
	CERTIFICATION

	A-P Review December 8 2020
	COVID-19 Emergency Operations Planning Update Memo

